No. 42202-6-II

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

Vs.

JESSE SCOTT LAKE

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF PIERCE COUNTY
Cause No. 09-1-03264-7

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WAYNE C. FRICKE
WSB #16550

HESTER LAW GROUP, INC., P.S.
Attorneys for Appellant
1008 South Yakima Avenue, Suite 302
Tacoma, Washington 98405
(253) 272-2157

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred when it refused to allow the defendant to testify as to the reasons for not giving a complete statement upon his arrest.

2. The trial court erred when it when it refused to allow the defendant to testify as to conversations that he engaged in or overheard.

3. The trial court erred when it admitted exhibit 15-A, Mr. Lake's handwritten statement made at the time of his arrest.

4. The trial court erred when it allowed evidence of defendant's calling his daughter whore and slut.

5. The trial court erred when it allowed testimony of Kathy Lake's and her sister's prior sexual abuse.

6. The accumulation of errors in the trial court denied Mr. Lake a fair trial.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Whether the trial court erred when it refused to allow the defendant to explain why he did not give details to the police when first arrested?

(Assignments of Error #1)

2. Whether the trial court erred when it ruled that conversations either overheard or participated in by a witness are hearsay?

(Assignments of Error #2)

3. Whether a defendant's actual written statement is admissible into evidence when it does not amount to a confession?

(Assignments of Error #3)

4. Whether name calling is relevant evidence?

(Assignments of Error #4)

5. Whether Kathy Lake's prior sexual abuse was relevant?

(Assignments of Error #5)

6. Whether Mr. Lake was denied a fair trial as a result of the accumulation of errors occurring during the trial?

(Assignments of Error #1-6)

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

On July 9, 2009, Jesse Lake was charged with two counts of child molestation in the first degree and two counts of incest in the second degree involving his daughter and stepdaughter. The counts involving his daughter, Samantha Lake, alleged conduct occurring between May 2001-2002 and February, 2009. The counts involving his stepdaughter, A.M., alleged conduct occurring between October 1995-1998 and September 2006 and July 2007. CP 1-2.

As trial approached, the State was allowed to amend the charges to broaden the charging period from 1994-2004 for both individuals. CP 70-71. This occurred on February 11, 2011. Then, during trial, the State amended the charges again on February 28, 2011 and for the last time on March 10, 2011. CP 82-83; 139-40. He was found not guilty on count 1 and guilty on counts 2-4. CP 166-69. He was ultimately sentenced to a total of 89 months in the Department of Corrections. CP 187-201.

During the course of the trial, the state continually objected, and the court continually sustained, numerous questions of Jesse Lake and Kathy Lake that were not offered for the truth of the matter asserted, some of which had been gone into by the state through other witnesses. For instance, in the questioning of Kathy Lake, the defense attempted to

question her about what she told a person over the phone. RP 654:20. The state objected and the court sustained the objection, even after substantial argument attempting to explain the difference between hearsay and non hearsay testimony. RP 654:20–661:1-2. Similarly, the defense attempted to ask Brett Howell about the content of the same phone conversation, but was not permitted to do so based on a hearsay objection. RP 258:23-259:17. Thus, the defense was unable to demonstrate the entire context and motivation for A. M.'s accusations.

Additionally, the defense was not able to get into the number of text messages Howell sent A.M. because the court ruled that the information was hearsay. RP 230-234. Finally, Howell was able to further testify about his normal relationship with A.M. after the disclosures and arrest of Mr. Lake. RP 243:9-18. He was further allowed to answer that S.M. and A.M. told him that her father had molested them. RP 244:7-246:17. RP 247:8-22.

These types of questions, followed by objections, continued throughout the trial. For instance, S.M., one of the alleged victims, testified that based on her research, she did not believe they were Native American. RP 204:7-13. Conversely, Mr. Lake was set to testify about his understanding of his Native American history, which was objected to as hearsay and sustained. RP 714:6-715:15.

S. M. was allowed to testify, over objection, that Mr. Lake referred to both she and A.M. as a slut and a whore. RP 214:1-9. Moreover, the

court again, over objection, allowed S.M., as well as her natural mother to testify that he said A.M. looked like Kathy. RP 215:13-220:3. RP 269:19-270:13. Likewise, the mother was able to testify about the alleged sexual abuse that she and Kathy Lake suffered from as children, to explain why she did nothing to stop Jesse Lake. RP 229:15-20. RP 346:7-18.

Additionally, after the state cross-examined Mr. Lake about his failure to give a complete statement upon his arrest initial arrest in February 2009, he was not allowed to answer questions regarding the reasons for not giving a full disclosure. RP 808:6-21. This occurred after the state's motion in limine was granted preventing him from bringing up the matter prior to trial, unless the door was opened. 5/1/11 RP 5:1-7. Despite opening the door to the questioning, the court affirmed the objections

Furthermore, during closing argument, the state then argued matters to the jury that the defense was unable to rebut because of the court's prior rulings. RP 858:17-859:23.

B. Facts

Jesse Lake is the father of S.L. and step-father to A.M. Mr. Lake met Kathy Lake in approximately September 1995 and they subsequently married in 2003. RP 551:23- RP 552:5. She moved in with Mr. Lake in approximately December of 1995 at the Glenn Park Apartments located in Federal Way. RP 554:4-17. They resided there until approximately August

of 1996, while her children lived with their father on Fort Lewis, as well his parents' house in Ohio. RP 555:20-556:25.

Subsequently, her children returned to Washington and they moved in with her at the Crystal Pointe Apartments. RP 557:17-25. Mr. Lake moved into the apartments during the late spring of 1997. RP 558:3-18. They lived at this residence until the fall of 1999. RP 626:2-5. A.M. was 7-9 years old during this time frame. RP 626:8-10. Other than approximately 18 months between April 2002 and October 2003, Mr. and Mrs. Lake lived together ever since. RP 624:1-21.

During the years at Crystal Point, A.M. would typically go to daycare after school and continued to do so until she was in either the 6th or 7th grade. RP 632:11-25. Typically, Mrs. Lake would pick the children up from daycare. RP 634:12-23. She testified that Jessie Lake never picked the kids up from daycare. RP 634:17-23. Frankie Lake confirmed this scenario.

From all appearances, the family appeared to be doing well until A.M. wanted to begin a relationship with a person by the name of Brett Howell and the Lakes received a large phone bill that included numerous text messages between Howell and A.M. RP 652:10-662:10. This was in violation of their LDS faith. RP 651:14-652: 16. It was not until finding out about the relationship that accusations, without specifics, were made. RP 663:7-24. She testified that the abuse began when they lived at the Crystal Point apartments after school when her mother was not home.

Until his arrest, Kathy Lake witnessed nothing to suggest that any abuse was occurring. RP 642:24–645:1. Nor did they possess rubber lips or a rubber vagina or cylinder shaped device. RP 645:19-646:8.

Throughout the time the family was together, Mr. Lake would give massages to the kids. RP 692:20-23; RP 694:16-23. The reasons for Mr. Lake giving massages, as opposed to anyone else was because he had received training in this area through his martial arts training. RP 730:20-731:25. Exs. 31-33. His son, Jesse, had testified he had no training at all in massage. Part of the reasons for the massages for A.M. was because she suffered from migraine headaches. RP 695:12-15; RP 706:12-17. She suffered these since the 5th or 6th grade. RP 648:12-15. Jesse Lake had consulted with Dr. Summers about giving A.M. massages for her migraine headaches during her sophomore year. RP 734:18. Dr. Summers supported his testimony by acknowledging that she had been brought in for treatment of neck and back complaints, as well as headaches. RP 608:9-17.

He testified he did not begin giving A.M. general massages until her junior year, when she began participating in cross country racing. RP 735:1-23. However, he did massage various injuries during her martial arts training, beginning in approximately 1998, while living at their residence in Surprise Lake. RP 736:4-10.

Mr. Lake denied touching either A.M. or S.L. in a sexual manner. RP 733.

A. M. testified that no accusations occurred until her then boyfriend, Brett Howell, suggested to her that she had been sexually abused. RP 87:1-12. This was during the time that she was attempting to keep the relationship from her parents. RP 87:14-24. Howell indicated that he had the suspicions after she reacted differently occurred when he was attempting to have sexual contact. RP _____. Conversely, A.M. denied this, indicating that it was at a conversation at school. RP 88:1-11. Afterwards, Howell spoke to S. M. RP 263:11-13. She then made similar accusations against Mr. Lake. Subsequently, S.M. made similar accusations against her counselor. He denied the conduct that she alleged. RP390:14-391:12.

Subsequently, the police were called and S. L. and A.M. were brought into school to prepare their written statements together. RP 261:10-14.

IV. ARGUMENT

Throughout the trial, the court continually sustained hearsay objections made by the state, which fundamentally did not fall within the hearsay rules. Additionally, Mr. Lake was prevented from offering explanations as to why he did not give a complete statement to the police when initially questioned and the state used this “new testimony” to impeach him and then argue to the jury that he was not credible. Based on

the erroneous evidentiary rulings, Mr. Lake was denied his due process rights to a fair trial.

A. DEFENDANT WAS DENIED HIS DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WHEN THE TRIAL COURT REFUSED TO ALLOW HIM TO EXPLAIN WHY HE DID NOT GIVE THE POLICE A FULL STATEMENT AFTER THE PROSECUTOR QUESTIONED HIM ABOUT HIS STATEMENT ON CROSS EXAMINATION AND THEN USED HIS CHANGED TESTIMONY AGAINST HIM DURING CLOSING ARGUMENTS.

As the courts in this state have continuously held, “when a party opens up a subject of inquiry on direct or cross examination, he contemplates that the rules will permit cross-examination or redirect examination...within the scope of the examination in which the subject matter was first introduced.” Ang v. Martin, 118 Wn.App. 553, 562, 76 P.3d 787 (2003), *affirmed by* Ang v. Martin, 154 Wn.2d 477, 114 P.3d 637, (2005)(*quoting* State v. Gefeller, 76 Wn.2d 449, 455, 458 P.2d 17 (1969)). The rule is all about fairness and truth-seeking. Both the defendant and prosecutor should have the opportunity to meet fairly the evidence and arguments put forward by the other. State v. Stackhouse, 90 Wn.App. 344, 359, 957 P.2d 344, 957 P.2d 218 (1998)(*citing* United States v. Robinson, 485 U.S. 25, 33, 108 S.Ct. 864, 99 L.Ed.2d 23 (1998)).

As stated in Gefeller:

It would be a curious rule of evidence which allowed one party to bring up a subject, drop it at a point where it might appear advantageous to him, and then bar the other party from all further inquiries about it. Rules of evidence are designed to aid in establishing the truth. To close the door after receiving only a part of the evidence not only leaves

the matter suspended in air at a point markedly advantageous to the party who opened the door, but might well limit the proof to half-truths.

76 Wn.2d at 455.

It is this curious rule that the trial court utilized in denying defendant the opportunity to meet fairly the evidence and arguments put forward by the state in this case. Adhering to pretrial rulings, defendant was not questioned nor did he testify to his lack of criminal history, which the court held was not relevant. However, the state then extensively questioned him regarding his failure to give complete statements to the authorities when initially questioned. RP 773:6- 777:25; RP 789:19-793:24; 799:5-801:9; 807:10-808:2. To explain this lack of a complete statement, the defense, on rebuttal, attempted to demonstrate that this was the first time he had been arrested and questioned by the police and was, therefore, unaware of the importance of a complete statement. However, despite those questions, the court refused to allow the defense to respond. RP 808:6-15.

In an analogous situation, a defendant, in a criminal bench trial, was prevented from explaining why he was unaware of his rights, due to his limited educational and environmental background. City of Seattle v. Gerry, 76 Wn.2d 689, 458 P.2d 548 (1969). Because he was unable to do so, the court reversed the conviction. Likewise, Mr. Lake was prevented from explaining his lack of giving a complete statement—because he had

never been in this situation prior to this time and, as a result, he was not aware of the importance of giving all details.

The only question, then, is whether Mr. Lake was prejudiced by the erroneous exclusion of the evidence. Reversal is required “if, within reasonable probabilities, it materially affects the outcome of the trial.” State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 94, 882 P.2d 747 (1989). Typically, this involves a review of the entire record. State v. Cunningham, 93 Wn.2d 823, 831, 613 P. 2d 1139 (1980). Here, the case hinged entirely on the credibility of the witnesses, including Mr. Lake. The state highlighted, in its cross examination of Mr. Lake, the differences between his testimony and that contained within the original statement. It also highlighted this discrepancy during its closing argument. Because of the emphasis of this credibility or lack thereof, prejudice is at its greatest and the court should reverse.

B. THE COURT SHOULD REVERSE DEFENDANT’S CONVICTIONS BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY PREVENTED THE DEFENSE FROM OFFERING EVIDENCE OF CONVERSATIONS PERTINENT TO THE DEFENSE BASED ON HEARSAY OBJECTIONS WHEN THE CONVERSATIONS WERE NOT OFFERED TO PROVE THE TRUTH OF THE MATTER ASSERTED.

The decision whether to admit or refuse evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will be reversed based on a manifest abuse of discretion. State v. Iverson, 126 Wn.App. 329, 336, 108 P.3d 799 (2005). A trial court abuses its discretion when the decision is manifestly

unreasonable, exercised on untenable grounds or untenable reasons. In other words, if the court's decision is based on unsupported facts, takes a view that no reasonable person would take, applies the wrong legal standard, or bases its ruling on an erroneous view of the law. State v. Hudson, 150 Wn.App. 646, 652, 208 P.3d 1236 (2009).

In sustaining the state's hearsay objections on numerous occasions, the court applied the wrong legal standard and based its ruling on an erroneous view of the law. Specifically, the court simply did not understand the hearsay rule, essentially ruling that any verbal statement made outside of the courtroom was, in fact, hearsay. However, the hearsay rule is not all encompassing. It is defined as:

...a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.

ER 801 (c). Conversely, when a statement is not offered for the truth of the contents of the conversation, but only the fact that it was made, it is not hearsay. State v. Gonzalez-Hernandez, 122 Wn.App. 53, 57, 92 P. 3d 789 (2004).

For example, an out of court statement is not hearsay if it is offered to explain its effect on the listener, rather than the truth of its content. See State v. Roberts, 80 Wn.App. 342, 352, 908 P. 2d 892 (1996). Kathy Lake attempted to testify about the conversation she had with Brett Howell. The defense attempted to question him about the same conversation. However, the court sustained the hearsay objections from the state even

though it went directly to why and how Mr. Lake reacted and the credibility and motivations for A. M. to make false accusations.

Additionally, Mr. Lake was prevented from testifying regarding his knowledge and understanding of his Native American heritage, even though S.M. testified about her understanding and research into the issue. In a case hinging on credibility this testimony was pertinent to the issues and would have addressed one more issue that the state used to attach his credibility. As such the evidence was not hearsay, was relevant, and the court erred by not allowing the testimony.

C. THE COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE TRIAL COURT BECAUSE IT ALLOWED INTO EVIDENCE, OVER OBJECTION, EVIDENCE THAT WAS NOT RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES OF THE CASE AND, EVEN IF RELEVANT, ITS PREJUDICIAL EFFECT OUTWEIGHED ITS PROBATIVE VALUE.

1. The evidence was not relevant.

The evaluation of relevant evidence is analyzed under ER 401. ER 401 defines relevant evidence of that evidence having the tendency to make the existence of any fact as a consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. As mentioned above, the admissibility of evidence, while generally within the sound discretion of the trial court, will only be reversed if there is an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion exists when no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court. State v. Atsbeha, 142 Wn.2d 904, 913-914, 16 P.3d 626 (2001).

In State v. Cissne, 72 Wn.App. 677, 865 P.2d 564 (1994), Division III of the Court of Appeals discussed whether statements made by the defendant in the course of the arrest were relevant to prove an element of the crime of driving under the influence. While reversing on other grounds, the court found that particular statements the defendant made to the police officer were relevant because "objective manifestations of insobriety, personally observed by the officer, are always relevant where ... the defendant's physical condition is an issue." 72 Wn.App at 687 (*quoting State v. Nagel*, 30 Ohio.App.3d 80, 80, 506 NE.2d 285, 286 (1986)). The court, therefore, ruled that defendant's statements were properly admitted because the issue in that case was the defendant's intoxication. Id.

Here, the court allowed in testimony on no less than two occasions, including statements that Mr. Lake told A.M. that she looked like her mother, and that Kathy Lake and her sister were sexually abused by their father, neither of which had anything to do with the elements of the offense, which was whether Mr. Lake sexually abused his two children. Additionally, the court allowed testimony that Mr. Lake called his daughters sluts and whores.

None of this evidence was relevant for any purpose. It was at most character assassination. Thus, none of it was relevant to prove an element of the crimes.

First, the evidence regarding the prior sexual abuse of the sisters was allowed in to suggest that Kathy Lake was somehow impacted by it to ignore the alleged abuse involving her own children. However, there was no expert testimony suggesting that this was a product of one's own abuse and was admitted merely to undermine Kathy Lake's credibility and ultimately the credibility of the defense of the case

Likewise, the comments regarding whether A.M. looked like her mother did not demonstrate any sexual attraction by Mr. Lake towards his step daughter. Nor did any alleged name calling prove an element of the charge. It was admitted merely to undermine Mr. Lake's credibility to show some type of speculative propensity and disparage him.

2. The probative value of the evidence was outweighed by its prejudicial effect.

Assuming some relevance, the evidence was still prejudicial. ER 403 provides:

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

Unfair prejudice is evidence that is more likely to arouse an emotional response rather than a rational decision by the jury. State v. Stackhouse, 90 Wn.App. 344, 356, 957 P.2d 218, rev. denied 136 Wn.2d 1002, 966 P.2d 902 (1998). Moreover, the court is required to weigh the evidence to determine unfairness during trial. 90 Wn.App. at 356. The court's decision is reviewed on an abuse of discretion standard. State v.

Ames, 89 Wn.App. 702, 706, 950 P.2d 514, *rev. denied* 136 Wn.2d 1009, 966 P.3d 903 (1998). Evidence of other acts is inadmissible to prove the character of the defendant. ER 404(b).

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