NO. 42202-6-II

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

JESSE LAKE, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Judge Susan Serko

No. 09-1-03264-7

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
STEPHEN TRINEN
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 30925

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

- a. The court properly admitted the defendant's statements that A.M. looked like her mother, and that Kathy Lake should loose weight to look more like A.M.

The defense claims that the court improperly admitted testimony that the defendant said that Kathy Lake and A.M. looked alike. Br. App. 17.

S.L. testified that the defendant made comments in front of A.M. that A.M. looked like Kathy Lake. 1 RP 215, ln. 8-11. However, what he said more precisely was that if Kathy lost weight, she would look like A.M. 2 RP 269, ln. 23 to p. 270, ln. 3. This stuck out for S.L. because it was said in front of the whole family and made Kathy really sad. *See also* 1 RP 216, ln. 15-22.

The defense objected to this inquiry on the basis of relevance when it was initially made. 1 RP 215, ln 14-15. However, the defense did not

renew that objection when S.M's testimony resumed the next day. *See* 2-A RP 269, ln. 19-24.

The State explained that the defendant's statement was relevant because it showed that the defendant who had a sexual relationship with his wife viewed A.M. as a younger, more attractive version of his wife. 1 RP 219, ln. 7-17. Thus, it in part explained the defendant's attraction to A.M. and his motive for committing the crimes against her.

At the least, the statement is certainly relevant as an indication from which the jury could infer the defendant's sexual interest in A.M. Nor could it be unfairly prejudicial where both A.M. and S.L. had already testified that he had repeatedly sexually molested them for many years. Moreover, its probative value outweighed any unfair prejudice, again because it showed Lake's physical attraction to A.M.

b. The Court Properly Admitted Testimony That The Defendant Called His Daughters Sluts And Whores.

The defense appears to claim that the court improperly allowed testimony that Lake called his daughters sluts and whores. Br. App. at 17.

In the first instance the State has been able to identify, the statement came up in the context of why the defendant touched and rubbed the girls sexually in the shower or when they had a towel on. 1 RP 176, ln. 20 to p. 10. Lake's explanation for why he would do that was that he

had read in a book that girls should be touched by their dad, otherwise they would grow up and be promiscuous and feel unloved because of neglect, and so they needed to be touched. 1 RP 178, ln. 8-12. Upon further questioning, A.M. explained that she had tried to put it nicely, but that he had told them that they would grow up to be sluts and whores if they were not touched by their father, that they would try to find it somewhere else, and that the only boyfriend they needed was him and they didn't need anyone else. 1 RP 178, ln. 13-25.

The defense did not object to these questions or answers. Accordingly, the objection is now waived for purposes of appeal. *See Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d at 856; *Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d at 421.

Testimony to this statement occurred a second time by S.L. When asked if Lake would ever call her or A.M. derogatory names, S.L. said "Yes." When asked what names, defense counsel objected on the ground that it was irrelevant, and under ER 403(b). 1 RP 214, ln. 1-2. The court overruled the objection and S.L. testified that Lake called them slut and whore. 1 RP 214, ln. 3-9.

Where similar testimony was admitted from A.M. without objection, the court properly admitted S.L.'s statement for several reasons. First, A.M.'s testimony made Lake's statement relevant to his touching them sexually and his attempts to explain, excuse or justify that contact. It is also relevant to the fact that he viewed them in a sexual context, as well as being evidence of his manipulation of them by degrading them.

Finally, it was also relevant to the credibility of A.M. Moreover, where A.M. had already testified to the statements without objection, there could be no harm in admitting them when S.L. testified to them.

For all these reasons, the court properly admitted Lakes statements that the girls were sluts and whores.

c. The Court Properly Admitted Testimony That Kathy Lake And Her Sister Were Sexually Abused By Their Father.

The defense claims that the court improperly admitted testimony that Kathy Lake and her sister, T.M. had been sexually abused by their own father.³ Br. App. 17. However, the defense's own argument implicitly acknowledges that it was properly relevant to the issue of Kathy Lake's own credibility. Br. App. at 18.

T.M. testified that she had been in the bathroom and brushed her teeth and left while A.M. was still in the shower. 2-A RP 339, ln. 16-18. Moments later, the defendant came around the corner, opened the bathroom door without knocking, and that A.M. was standing there naked. 2-A RP 338, ln. 23-25. A.M. grabbed the shower curtain and attempted to cover herself up, but the defendant proceeded into the bathroom, closing the door behind him. 2-A RP 338, ln. 25 to p. 339, ln. 2. T.M. explained that this conduct greatly troubled her because she thought she and Kathy

³ Because the abuse suffered by T.M. occurred when she was a minor, the State refers to her by her initials.

Lake were on the same page as to [sexually] inappropriate conduct with their kids because they had been abused growing up and had discussed over the years how important it is to protect their children. 2-A RP 341, ln. 16-21. The defense objected to this statement, but only as to relevance. 2-A RP 341, ln. 11-12. The court overruled the objection. 2-A RP 341, ln. 13.

Indeed, the testimony was highly relevant to Kathy Lake's credibility for multiple reasons. Kathy Lake denied that her sister had called and in a telephone conversation with both Kathy Lake and the defendant expressed concerns regarding T.M.'s observation. 4 RP 666, ln. 14 to p. 667, ln. 7; p. 698, ln. 15 to p. 701, ln. 8. *See also* 2-B RP 348, ln. 14-18. Yet T.M. testified that the defendant admitted to massaging A.M.'s breasts and lower abdominal massages, but stopped at the pelvic bone. 2-B RP 349, ln. 11-16. The defendant also told her he gave the children what he called a colon rub, which was a lower abdominal rub, and that he gave those to A.M. 2-B RP 350, ln. 15-21. T.M. was shocked at hearing all of this. 2-B RP 352, ln. 6.

Additionally, Kathy Lake testified that she no longer spoke to her sister because her sister testified in support of the State presenting evidence. 4 RP 698, ln. 9-14.

Kathy Lake acknowledged that she and T.M. had been abused as children, said that T.M. had been upset about that for many years, but

denied that T.M. had told her that T.M. found upsetting what T.M. had observed in Kathy Lake's home. 4 RP 702.

This testimony is highly relevant to Kathy Lake's credibility, especially where she sought to support her husband and denied that anything inappropriate had happened in their household.

Because the evidence was relevant and where the defense failed to object that it was unfairly prejudicial, the court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the evidence.

5. THE COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED THE
DEFENDANT'S WRITTEN STATEMENT.

The court should decline to consider this issue for the reasons stated in section 1 above.

The defense claims that the court improperly admitted the defendant's statement made at the time of his initial arrest. Br. App. 21. The defense claims that the admission of the evidence allowed undue influence as to a particular piece of evidence. Br. App. 21. However, the defense fails to identify the exhibit from the record, or locate any objections in the transcript.

Moreover, again, where the brief of appellant fails to cite to the record, the State is at a disadvantage in responding to the defense claims. Nonetheless, the State has attempted a careful review of the record, after which the State was able to identify the portions of the record that appear

to conform to the description of the error claimed by the defense. The State will therefore attempt to address the issues based on those potentially relevant portions of the record that could be identified. However, the State cannot assure the court that its identification is comprehensive, or even that these are the specific instances to which the defendant objects.

On March 8, 2011, the court admitted Plaintiff's Exhibit 15A, a redacted statement by the defendant. CP 209. The defense objected, however, rather than stating the basis of its objection at the time the exhibit was admitted, it referred to objections that it made some time in the week prior. 3 RP 457, ln. 17 to p. 458, ln. 24. Again, the Brief of Appellant does not cite to those objections. However, it appears that the defendant is referring to the objection that occurs at 1 RP 135, ln. 2-5.

Nor does the exhibit even appear to be designated as part of the record. "An insufficient appellate record precludes review of the alleged errors." *In re Detention of Morgan*, 161 Wn. App. 66, 253 P.3d 394 (2011). See also *State v. Groth*, 163 Wn. App. 548, 568, 261 P.3d 183 (2011); *State v. Sublett*, 156 Wn. App. 160, 186, 231 P.3d 231 (2010); RAP 9.2(b).

The defense objection was to the admission of the document. 1 RP 135, ln. 2-5. The defense had no objection to the statement being read to the jury. 1 RP 135, ln. 4-5. When asked if there was a rule the defense could refer the court to, the response was that counsel would have to look and ask the court to reserve ruling or allow him to take some time. 1 RP

135, ln. 11-16. Because at the time, the defense could not provide the court any authority contrary to the admission of the written statement, the court reserved ruling on the admission of the statement until the defense had a chance to prepare an argument. 1 RP 135, ln. 11 to p. 136, ln. 3. For the time being, the court allowed the statement to be read to the jury. 1 RP 135, ln. 25 to p. 136, ln. 3. Subsequently, the statement was read to the jury. 1 RP 151, ln. 19 to p. 152, ln. 20.

The defense objection was later considered more thoroughly outside the presence of the jury. *See* 1 RP 179, ln. 21 to p. 181, ln. 19. However, the defense never articulated a more specific legal basis for the objection. *See* 1 RP 180, ln. 6-18.

The court conducted its own analysis of the issue and concluded that the written statement was admissible under ER 801(d)(2). 1 RP 181, ln. 19 to p. 181, ln. 6. Everyone agreed that any further objection or argument could be raised on Monday, March 7, 2011. 1 RP 181, ln. 7-13. However, it does not appear that the issue was raised again until the exhibit was admitted on March 8, at which time the defense had no additional argument. 3 RP 457, ln. 17 to p. 458 ln. 24.

Having failed to raise a specific legal objection to the admission of the written statement, any objection was waived.

It is also worth noting that the defense claims the statement was allowed to go to the jury as impeachment evidence. Br. App. 21. However, this does not appear to be correct as the court indicated that it

was inclined to admit the statement under ER 801(d)(2). 1 RP 181, ln. 19 to p. 181, ln. 6. That provision indicates that an admission by a party opponent is not hearsay. It does not limit the statements to impeachment purposes, which would fall under ER 801(c) since statements for limited purposes of impeachment are admissible because they are not hearsay insofar as they are not being used to prove the truth of the matter asserted.

In any case, the defense objection is without merit, because nothing in ER 801 distinguishes generally between written and oral statements.

6. EVEN IF THE COURT WERE TO HOLD ANY OF THE CLAIMS WERE ERROR, ANY SUCH ERROR WAS HARMLESS.

Two different standards for harmless error have been applied to Washington cases. In *State v. Whelchel*, the Washington Supreme Court held that a constitutional error is harmless if the appellate court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result without the error. *State v. Whelchel*, 115 Wn.2d 708, 728, 801 P.2d 948 (1990) (holding the error was harmless where statements were admitted in violation of the defendant's rights under the confrontation clause). The court in *Whelchel* held that independent of the improperly admitted statements, there was overwhelming evidence to

support the defendant's conviction so that the erroneous admission was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Welchel*, 115 Wn.2d at 730.

However, when the same case went before the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals on an appeal to a habeas corpus motion, the Ninth Circuit held that the standard for harmless error was whether a given error had a substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict. *Welchel v. Washington*, 232 F.3d 1197, 1205-06 (9th Cir. 2000). In *Welchel*, the Ninth Circuit affirmed the Federal District Court's grant of habeas corpus relief to the defendant, holding that the statements were not cumulative of other evidence, and were inherently suspect. *Welchel*, 232 F.3d at 1208. The court also noted that the other evidence did not point overwhelmingly to Welchel's guilt. *Welchel*, 232 F.3d at 1208. The court did find harmless error as to other improperly admitted statements where they were merely cumulative. *Welchel*, 232 F.3d at 1211.

Here, the defense has failed to show that any error was harmful. Most of the claimed errors were not properly objected to, or substantially similar evidence was before the jury without objection through some other means. Given the substantial amount of evidence in this case, the claimed errors, if any, were harmless.

7. THERE WAS NO CUMULATIVE ERROR FROM THE COURT'S RULINGS CHALLENGED ON APPEAL.

The doctrine of cumulative error is the counter balance to the doctrine of harmless error. Harmless error is based on the premise that “an otherwise valid conviction should not be set aside if the reviewing court may confidently say, on the whole record, that the constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Rose v. Clark*, 478 U.S. 570, 577, 106 S. Ct. 3101, 92 L. Ed. 2d 460 (1986). The central purpose of a criminal trial is to determine guilt or innocence. *Rose*, 478 U.S. at 577. “Reversal for error, regardless of its effect on the judgment, encourages litigants to abuse the judicial process and bestirs the public to ridicule it.” *Neder v. United States*, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 1838, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999) (internal quotation omitted). “[A] defendant is entitled to a fair trial but not a perfect one, for there are no perfect trials.” *Brown v. United States*, 411 U.S. 223, 232 (1973) (internal quotation omitted). Allowing for harmless error promotes public respect for the law and the criminal process by ensuring a defendant gets a fair trial, but not requiring or highlighting the fact that all trials inevitably contain errors. *Rose*, 478 U.S. at 577. Thus, the harmless error doctrine allows the court to affirm a conviction when the court can determine that the error did not contribute to the verdict that was obtained. *Rose*, 478 U.S. at 578; *see also State v.*

Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 409, 756 P.2d 105 (1988) (“The harmless error rule preserves an accused’s right to a fair trial without sacrificing judicial economy in the inevitable presence of immaterial error.”).

The doctrine of cumulative error, however, recognizes the reality that sometime numerous errors, each of which standing alone might have been harmless error, can combine to deny a defendant not only a perfect trial, but also a fair trial. *In re Lord*, 123 Wn.2d 296, 332, 868 P.2d 835 (1994); *State v. Coe*, 101 Wn.2d 772, 789, 681 P.2d 1281 (1984); *see also State v. Johnson*, 90 Wn. App. 54, 74, 950 P.2d 981, 991 (1998) (“although none of the errors discussed above alone mandate reversal....”). The analysis is intertwined with the harmless error doctrine in that the type of error will affect the court’s weighing those errors. *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 93 94, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), *cert. denied*, 574 U.S. 1129, 115 S. Ct. 2004, 131 L. Ed. 2d 1005 (1995). There are two dichotomies of harmless errors that are relevant to the cumulative error doctrine. First, there are constitutional and nonconstitutional errors. Constitutional errors have a more stringent harmless error test and therefore they will weigh more on the scale when accumulated. *See Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 93, 94. Conversely, nonconstitutional errors have a lower harmless error test and weigh less on the scale. *See Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 93, 94. Second, there are errors that are harmless because of the strength of the untainted

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